Educational Administration: Theory and Practice

2024, 30(10), 309-321 ISSN: 2148-2403 https://kuey.net/

Research Article



Effective British School Evaluation: A Longitudinal Study on the Impact of School Improvement through Inspections

Dr. Paul Walton1*

1*Email: p.walton78@icloud.com

Citation: Dr. Paul Walton, (2024), Effective British School Evaluation: A Longitudinal Study on the Impact of School Improvement through Inspections, Educational Administration: Theory and Practice, 30(10), 309-321

Doi: 10.53555/kuey.v30i10.8131

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT

This study was created to take a closer look at the school inspection process and the way in which it could be used to effectively transform schools. It looks further into the current training available for schools and how to implement a continuous improvement process in an educational setting. It presents a longitudinal study that investigates the impact of school inspections on school improvement across various dimensions, including historical context, methodological frameworks, key findings, stakeholder perspectives, challenges encountered during evaluation processes, and recommendations for future practices. School improvement has been a significant focus of educational policy in the United Kingdom for the past few decades. One mechanism utilised to drive this improvement has been the implementation of external school evaluations and inspections. The present study examines the long-term impact of these inspections on school quality and performance in England and overseas. The study will also consider the challenges and barriers that schools have faced in implementing improvement initiatives in response to inspections. (Hammond & Yeshanew, 2007). A main aspect of an inspection process for British International Schools (commonly referred to as British Schools Overseas or BSO) looks at the evidence the school displays a British character in its learning approach, curriculum, ethos, pastoral care and teaching.

Index Terms – British Schools, School Improvement, School Evaluations, British Inspections, British Education, International Schools, Transformational Leadership, Leadership, Change Management, Effective School Evaluation, Inspections

Contents -

- 1. Introduction
- 2. What are School Inspections?
- 3. What is Effective School Evaluation?
- 4. UK Schools and British International Schools Overseas
- 5. Current training offered for British International School Improvement?
- 6. Impact on Schools through School Inspections?
- 7. How to lead a school through Change Management?
- 8. What are the advantages and disadvantages of School inspections?
- 9. How to Prepare a British International School for an Inspection?
- 10. Conclusion

1. Introduction

In this study, I wish to argue that the use of school inspection bodies available, the better equipped schools are to undertake a change process and a sharp focus on improving the quality of education for all stakeholders. An inspection process can be used as a continuous cycle of improvement for the betterment of students, staff and all stakeholders in a community.

The effectiveness of school inspections as a mechanism for driving educational improvement has garnered significant attention in recent years. In the context of British education, inspections serve not only as a regulatory measure but also as a catalyst for enhancing the quality of teaching and learning within schools. This

essay presents a longitudinal study that investigates the impact of school inspections on school improvement across various dimensions, including historical context, methodological frameworks, key findings, stakeholder perspectives, challenges encountered during evaluation processes, and recommendations for future practices. Historical analyses reveal that British school inspections have evolved from rudimentary assessments to comprehensive evaluations aimed at ensuring accountability and fostering continuous improvement (Gaertner, n.d.).

School improvement has been a significant focus of educational policy in the United Kingdom for the past few decades. One mechanism utilised to drive this improvement has been the implementation of external school evaluations and inspections. The present study examines the long-term impact of these inspections on school quality and performance in England and overseas. This has now extended overseas with many international schools embarking upon a cycle of school inspections. Common questions via social media, blogs and meetings, many schools face are below:

- Which Inspection body should we use?
- How much does this cost?
- How do we prepare for an inspection?
- What does an inspection entail?
- How can staff train and be 'inspection ready'?
- What are the benefits of a school inspection?
- What are the next steps?

Existing research has explored the effects of feedback and data provision to schools on their subsequent performance. The findings suggest that data can spur school-wide approaches to improvement, as well as targeted interventions for individual students. Similarly, an evaluation of the Slovenian education system found that external school evaluations had a positive impact on school improvement efforts. (Brejc & Koren, 2014) However, the long-term, systemic effects of these inspection regimes remain underexplored.

This longitudinal study will investigate the impact of the school inspection process in England over an extended time period. Drawing on data collected through document analysis and interviews with school leaders and external evaluators, it will assess the ways in which inspections have driven sustained changes in teaching, learning, and overall school quality. The study will also consider the challenges and barriers that schools have faced in implementing improvement initiatives in response to inspections. (Hammond & Yeshanew, 2007) By examining the long-term consequences of the inspection system, this research aims to provide a more nuanced understanding of the role that external evaluation can play in school improvement.

I will investigate school inspections, UK and British schools overseas, the current training available for staff in school and starting an improvement process. I will research the impact of the current inspection training in schools that helps to prepare leaders for this change management process and if this is sufficient to give enough support and knowledge to school leaders. I will look into the current structure of inspections, support available and building institutes of lasting change.

2. What are School Inspections?

School inspections in England, primarily conducted by the Office for Standards in Education (Ofsted), have been a key component of the country's school improvement and accountability system. Research on the impact of these inspections has yielded mixed results, with some studies indicating positive effects and others suggesting limited influence on school improvement.

Several studies have found that school inspections can contribute to school improvement processes. For instance, research on Ofsted inspections since 1994 has shown considerable potential for inspections to contribute to school improvement (Ouston et al., 1997). Additionally, a study in the Netherlands revealed that inspections primarily drive change indirectly by encouraging developmental processes rather than through direct, coercive methods (M. C. M. Ehren, 2016) These findings highlight the complexity of evaluating the effectiveness of school inspections across different educational systems and contexts. School inspections contain developmental processes that are aided by a school self-evaluation form.

The purpose of school self-evaluation supported by regular school inspections in British International Schools is to promote improvement. Regular school inspections help to support the school self-evaluation process and to support and challenge the school as it works towards achieving its improvement objectives outlined in its Self-Evaluation Report. The outcomes of inspections are subsequently communicated to the community and to a wide audience through judgments and reports. Judgments presented collectively by all inspectorates and by educational oversight across independent education through the provision of reports raise awareness and knowledge of school performance and contribute to maintaining and raising educational standards across British International Schools.

An inspection is a unique, high-profile event that is very important to the life and strategic development of all British International Schools. The outcomes of an inspection can have a very serious effect on the life, work, and future of a school. In particular, the outcomes can have serious consequences for pupil recruitment and

the reputation of a school both internationally and within the community that it serves. The importance of an inspection is well recognised within the industry. Quality control has always been one of the strengths of British International Schools, and there is a constant drive to raise and maintain British International School performance. British International Schools understand the criteria on which their work is to be judged, and there is an advantage in setting out clear statements against these criteria. For a poorly performing school that fails to meet the standards, the need to find new direction and leadership can lead to the closure of the school, or in the independent sector, the loss of registration and closure.

The variation in outcomes suggests that the impact of inspections may depend on factors such as the specific inspection framework, the school's readiness for change, and the broader educational policy environment. Further research is needed to identify the key elements that contribute to successful inspection-driven school improvement and to develop more nuanced approaches that can be tailored to different school contexts.

However, contradictory evidence exists, as a longitudinal study in Germany found that principals' and teachers' perceptions of school quality remained highly stable despite the introduction of school inspections (Gaertner et al., 2013).

3. UK Schools and British International Schools Overseas

According to the TES (2024), in the UK there are 20,778 state-funded primary schools, 27 middle schools, 4,175 state-funded secondary schools or post-primary schools, 2,572 independent schools and 1,609 special or alternative provision settings.

ISC Research (2024) data recorded a total of 13,614 English-Medium international schools around the world enrolling close to 7 million students and employing 649,960 teaching staff. ISBI (2022) states, A British International School is a school that teaches the British National Curriculum or has a British orientation, outside of the UK. There are around four and a half million pupils across the globe studying in more than 8,000 English teaching schools - and of those, around 3700 are British International Schools.

Overall, this shows that around 30,000 in the UK and 3700 British International Schools overseas. All of which follow the UK national curriculum or an adopted version of this depending on the region of delivery. All schools are invited to follow an accreditation, school licensing and improvement cycle.

As part of the inspections in the UK and most of the bodies used outside of the UK in the overseas arena they follow a framework, descriptors and have an overall judgement of Outstanding, Good, Requires Improvement/Satisfactory and a fourth category which will infer that an urgent improvement is needed/inadequate.

Specifically looking at British Schools in the UK, we first can consider the information below showing the current inspection ratings across all schools in Table 1.

Table 1: Overall effectiveness of state-funded schools at their most recent inspection, by phase.

Phase	% Outstanding	% Good	% Requires improvement	% Inadequate
Alternative provision (327)	18	67	9	6
Special (1,018)	38	52	5	5
Secondary (3,317)	20	58	15	7
Primary (16,643)	16	72	9	3
Nursery (386)	64	35	1	0
All schools (21,691)	19	68	10	3

The results in table 1 (GOV UK, 2021) above shows that 19% of all schools in the UK are graded as 'Outstanding', a further 68% as 'Good', combining the two we reach 87% of all schools in the UK are operating at a 'Good' or 'Outstanding' level of education.

The overall rating of a school has improved over time as illustrated in the table below.

Tabel 2: Grade movement for state-funded schools previously judged to require improvement, by year

Academic year	% Improved to good or outstanding	% Remained requires improvement	% Declined to inadequate
2014/15 (1,674)	67	27	7
2015/16 (1,600)	71	22	7
2016/17 (1,171)	61	28	11
2017/18 (624)	61	33	6
2018/19 (863)	64	27	9
2019/20 (586)	56	36	8
2021/22 (292)	71	25	4
2021/22 (292)	71	25	4

The results in table 1 (GOV UK, 2021) shows that between 56% and 71% of schools improved to 'Good' or 'Outstanding' during the past 7 years that were previously judged as 'Requires Improvement'. This shows the majority of schools have improved after receiving a 'Requires Improvement' judgement.

With the compelling data above showing that the inspection process demonstrates a driver for school improvement for schools that were previously graded at 'Requires Improvement', it creates the following questions:

- Which aspect of the inspection helped a school?
- Does the UK inspection system help British Schools overseas?
- How did they improve?
- Did this have a direct positive impact on the students educational outcomes?
- When schools retain staff, teachers and leaders, do they continue to improve further?

From 87% as mentioned above in 2021, the outcomes of inspections have increased further. Ofsted confirmed, "90% of all schools are now good or outstanding, an increase from 89% in August 2023." Ofsted (2023). According to Fullfact.org, "the latest data published by Ofsted, 90% of schools are good or outstanding. This compares to 68% in 2010" Fullfact.org, (2024).

With numerous schools outside of the UK following a british-style curriculum, the Department for Education has a scheme for inspection and school improvement whereby schools are inspected against a common set of standards in a framework. Inspections are performed by inspectorates which are approved by the Department for Education and monitored by Ofsted. Similar to Ofsted, they produce inspection reports which show the performance and quality of educational provision in the school.

A main aspect of an inspection process for British International Schools (commonly referred to as British Schools Overseas or BSO) looks at the evidence the school displays a British character in its learning approach, curriculum, ethos, pastoral care and teaching. This is included in the framework provided to schools and has criteria to meet as a standard.

According to BSO, "The BSO Scheme is the UK Department for Education's voluntary inspection scheme for overseas schools. Overseas schools describing themselves as "British" are subject to recognition by the British government under the voluntary inspection scheme. The Department for Education (DfE) has put in place arrangements for inspection against a common set of standards that British Schools Overseas can choose to adopt." BSO, (2020).

The Association of British Schools Overseas (AoBSO) states, "The term 'British Schools Overseas' (BSO) may only be officially used by a school that has been inspected, by one of the inspectorates approved by the DfE within the last 3 years. Only schools with valid BSO accreditation can call themselves 'British Schools Overseas'." AoBSO, (2020).

There are a number of different types of inspections conducted in education around the world. These include minimum standards inspections, best practice inspections, external accreditation visits, and compliance inspections. One of the most widely used for-profit international schools worldwide is the United Kingdom, in which British-trained school inspectors visit the school to produce an inspection report on its performance against the standards set by the Department for Education.

4. What is Effective School Evaluation?

Effective school evaluation is a multifaceted process that encompasses various methodologies and frameworks aimed at assessing and enhancing educational quality. It is essential for ensuring accountability, improving teaching practices, and fostering student achievement. The effectiveness of school evaluations can be significantly influenced by the evaluation methods employed, the involvement of stakeholders, and the alignment of evaluations with educational goals. Training provided for all members of the community is key to align everyone with the expectations and purpose of the school inspection.

How is data collected?

One critical aspect of effective school evaluation is the use of mixed-method approaches, which combine quantitative and qualitative data to provide a comprehensive understanding of the educational environment. For instance, Jones and Cowie highlight that their evaluation of a national ICT initiative utilised a mixed-method approach, integrating national survey data with qualitative insights from focus groups and case studies.

This approach allowed for a nuanced understanding of the implementation processes and generated valuable data for various stakeholders, including policymakers and school leaders (Jones & Cowie, 2010). For British Schools overseas the use of data is key, collecting survey data from all stakeholders in the community, this can include students, parents and teachers. The survey data feeds into the school development plan and key priorities for the school to improve. The mixed-method is an integral part of any inspection.

Similarly, Wene and Muljani emphasise the importance of employing diverse evaluation methods to capture the full spectrum of teacher performance, suggesting that no single measurement can adequately reflect the complexities of teaching effectiveness (Wene & Muljani, 2020). Stakeholder involvement is another crucial element in effective school evaluation. The engagement of teachers, students, parents, and the community can enhance the relevance and applicability of evaluation findings. For example, the participatory nature of evaluations, as discussed by Strobl et al., can lead to significant improvements in health-related knowledge among students, demonstrating the impact of collaborative approaches in school-based interventions (Strobl et al., 2020). Action plans showing the outcomes of the evaluation methods can be openly shared with parents through a school website, staff in meetings and also shared with students.

Furthermore, the concept of democratic engagement in school self-evaluation, as explored by Davidsdottir and Lisi, indicates that schools adopting a democratic stance in their evaluations tend to experience better outcomes, as the process fosters a sense of ownership and accountability among stakeholders (Davidsdottir & Lisi, 2007). Moreover, effective school evaluation must align with broader educational goals and accountability frameworks. The integration of evaluation systems with professional development initiatives is crucial for enhancing teaching quality. Looney argues that well-designed teacher evaluation systems, when aligned with ongoing professional learning, can lead to significant improvements in teaching practices and student outcomes (Looney, 2011). This alignment ensures that evaluations are not merely punitive measures but are constructive tools for growth and development.

In addition, the evaluation process should be adaptable to the specific context of each school. Macridis and Bengoechea emphasise the need for context-sensitive evaluation tools that can accurately assess the effectiveness of programs like Safe Routes to School, which require tailored approaches to meet the unique needs of different communities (Macridis & Bengoechea, 2015).

This adaptability is essential for ensuring that evaluations are relevant and actionable. In conclusion, effective school evaluation is characterised by a mixed-method approach, stakeholder involvement, alignment with educational goals, and contextual adaptability. These elements work synergistically to create a robust evaluation framework that not only assesses educational quality but also drives continuous improvement in teaching and learning.

Effective school evaluation therefore should be:

- Developmental and improved based
- A supportive process
- Collaborative
- A benchmark of standards

- Objective in nature
- Aiming for long term and sustainable improvement
- Able to cater for individual schools, keeping their identity within a framework.

5. Current training offered for British International School Improvement?

The current training offered for British International Schools is multifaceted, addressing various aspects of educational improvement, teacher development, and curriculum adaptation. The British international education landscape has evolved significantly, particularly in response to the increasing demand for quality education that aligns with global standards while maintaining a British ethos.

One of the primary areas of focus is the professional development of teachers. Research indicates that many private international schools face challenges related to teacher retention and stability, which can adversely affect educational quality ("Analysis of the reasons and countermeasures for the high mobility of private international primary and secondary school teachers", 2023). To combat this, training programs are being developed that emphasise the importance of creating stable teacher teams and providing ongoing professional development opportunities.

For instance, the British Council has been instrumental in offering training programs aimed at enhancing teaching skills, particularly in pedagogy, classroom management, and the integration of ICT in teaching practices (Zeb et al., 2022). Such initiatives are crucial in ensuring that teachers are well-equipped to meet the diverse needs of their students in an international context.

Moreover, the curriculum offered in British International Schools is increasingly incorporating elements that reflect both British educational values and the multicultural realities of their student populations. This is particularly evident in the adoption of the British national curriculum, which has become the most prevalent model in international schools globally, with a notable increase in its implementation over the past decade (Probert, 2023). The curriculum is designed not only to prepare students for high-status higher education but also to foster an understanding of global citizenship and cultural diversity, which is essential in today's interconnected world (Judge, 2024).

Additionally, the role of local educational authorities and stakeholders in facilitating school improvement cannot be understated. Effective strategies for school improvement include setting clear performance expectations and holding schools accountable for meeting these goals (Wei et al., 2021). This collaborative approach ensures that schools are not only striving for academic excellence but are also fostering environments that promote inclusivity and respect for diverse backgrounds, which is particularly pertinent in international settings where students come from various cultural and linguistic backgrounds (Khalil & Kelly, 2020). Finally, the impact of recent global events, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, has necessitated a re-evaluation of teacher training programs. The pandemic highlighted the need for flexible and adaptive teaching practices, prompting many institutions to innovate their training curricula to better prepare teachers for future challenges (Nel et al., 2021). This adaptability is crucial for maintaining the quality of education in British International Schools, ensuring that they remain responsive to both local and global educational demands.

The training offered in British International Schools is characterised by a commitment to professional development, a robust and adaptable curriculum, and a collaborative approach to school improvement. These elements are essential for fostering an educational environment that not only meets the needs of students but also prepares them for success in a globalised world.

Training would include:

- Teacher Training Programs for pedagogy (UK based)
- Examination Board training for assessment through Cambridge, Pearson etc.
- ENC through British Council to deliver a best practice and adapted curriculum
- AoBSO training and support for inspections
- A Professional Development Program for each school

6. Impact on Schools through School Inspections?

The impact of school inspections on educational institutions is multifaceted, encompassing aspects of accountability, improvement, and unintended consequences. Research indicates that inspections serve as a critical mechanism for ensuring that schools meet established educational standards while simultaneously fostering an environment conducive to improvement. For instance, Brown et al. highlight that school inspections can catalyse positive interactions within educational networks, thereby enhancing both accountability and improvement across schools (Brown et al., 2019).

This aligns with findings from Penninckx et al., who note that while inspections primarily focus on school-level accountability, they also significantly influence classroom practices, suggesting a direct link between inspection processes and teaching quality (Penninckx et al., 2016). Moreover, the governance model adopted by inspection systems plays a crucial role in shaping their effectiveness. Grek et al. discuss the transition from traditional, regulatory inspection methods to more collaborative, meditative approaches that promote a community of learners (Grek et al., 2013). This shift is essential for fostering a supportive environment where schools can thrive and improve. Ehren et al. further emphasise that clear expectations set by inspection frameworks drive schools to undertake improvement actions, effectively making them "self-inspecting" as they prepare for evaluations (Ehren et al., 2014).

This proactive stance is critical for enhancing educational quality and ensuring that schools are responsive to the needs of their students and communities. However, the impact of school inspections is not uniformly positive. Research by Ehren et al. reveals that while inspections can lead to improvements, they may also result in unintended consequences, such as narrowing the curriculum or discouraging innovative teaching methods (Ehren et al., 2015).

This phenomenon is echoed in the work of Ehren et al., who argue that the relationship between inspections and school improvement is complex and often fraught with challenges, including the potential for strategic responses from schools aimed at manipulating inspection outcomes (Ehren et al., 2013). Such behaviours can undermine the intended goals of inspections, highlighting the need for a nuanced understanding of their effects. In addition, the role of school self-evaluation has become increasingly prominent within inspection systems, as noted by Nayir and McNamara. They argue that self-evaluation processes are integral to enhancing school quality, as they encourage schools to engage in reflective practices that align with inspection criteria (Nayir & McNamara, 2015).

This integration of self-evaluation into the inspection framework underscores the importance of fostering a culture of continuous improvement within schools. In summary, school inspections significantly impact educational institutions by promoting accountability and improvement while also presenting challenges that can lead to unintended consequences.

The effectiveness of these inspections is influenced by the governance models employed, the clarity of expectations set for schools, and the extent to which self-evaluation is integrated into the inspection process. As educational systems continue to evolve, understanding these dynamics will be crucial for optimising the role of inspections in enhancing educational quality.

7. How to lead a School through Change Management?

In the rapidly evolving landscape of education, school leaders are faced with the daunting task of navigating the complexities of school improvement and ensuring that their institutions remain dynamic, responsive, and aligned with the changing needs of students and society. One key aspect of this challenge is the effective implementation of school inspections and the subsequent changes that arise from the feedback and recommendations provided.

Effective school leadership requires a nuanced understanding of the change management process and the ability to foster a culture of continuous improvement within the school community (Ali & Baig, 2012). According to research, successful educational improvements require establishing a clear educational vision and a shared institutional mission (Ali & Baig, 2012). Furthermore, the literature on school change highlights five key elements of a school improvement strategy: building a shared vision, developing a collaborative culture using data to guide decision-making, providing targeted professional development and ensuring consistent communication and engagement with all stakeholders. (Bernauer, 2002)

The introduction of school inspections, as a means of evaluating and improving the quality of education, can be a powerful tool for driving change. However, the successful implementation of these inspections and the subsequent changes they bring about is not without its challenges. The study by Hallinger and Heck emphasises the importance of "learning organisations" and "whole-school development" in driving sustainable change, while proceeding with caution.

A school going through Change Management requires a clear plan of action and steps to follow. As suggested by Kotter (1995), an 8 step change process can be used to lead through change. He includes the following steps to follow to help an organisational change:

- 1. Creating a Sense of Urgency
- 2. Putting Together a Guiding Coalition
- 3. Developing Vision and Strategies
- 4. Communicating the Change Vision
- 5. Remove Barriers to Action
- 6. Accomplish Short-Term Wins
- 7. Build on the Change

8. Make Change Stick

This is a model that has been used across several industries and sectors. A major advantage of using the model is its significant impact on a company's long-term and sustained success. By creating a sense of urgency, building a strong coalition of people, and empowering actions, this model builds a robust foundation and solid platform for sustainable growth.

8. What are the Advantages and Disadvantages of School Inspections?

School inspections, a common feature in many education systems, have both advantages and disadvantages according to the available research.

The primary advantage of school inspections is that they provide objective information about important educational outcomes (Jerrim & Jones, 2024). Quantitative data used in these inspections can offer valuable insights into school performance and quality.

However, the usefulness of such data is limited by several factors. These include missing data, small sample sizes, the creation of perverse incentives, and the fact that most readily available measures capture aspects other than school quality (Jerrim & Jones, 2024). This research highlights the complex nature of school inspections, suggesting that while they offer valuable objective data on educational outcomes, their effectiveness is constrained by various limitations.

These findings have important implications for policymakers and educators, potentially prompting a reevaluation of current inspection practices and the development of more comprehensive assessment methods. Interestingly, while the focus is on school inspections, the concept of pros and cons in decision-making processes is also relevant in other educational contexts. For instance, in the adoption of textbooks, there has been a long-standing debate about the advantages and disadvantages of state versus local adoption (Tulley, 1989). This parallel suggests that the evaluation of educational practices often involves weighing multiple factors.

While school inspections aim to provide objective data, they may inadvertently create a narrow focus on measurable outcomes, potentially overlooking crucial aspects of education that are harder to quantify. This emphasis on data-driven assessments could lead to a 'teaching to the test' mentality, potentially stifling creativity and innovative teaching practices. Moreover, the stress and resources devoted to preparing for inspections might detract from genuine educational improvements, raising questions about whether the benefits of inspections truly outweigh their costs and unintended consequences. The debate surrounding school inspections extends beyond their immediate impact on educational institutions, encompassing broader questions about the nature of educational quality and how it can be effectively measured and improved.

Inspections can provide valuable feedback and insights for teachers to improve their teaching methods and practices. This process allows educators to gain a fresh perspective on their work, identify areas of strength, and discover opportunities for growth. By receiving constructive criticism from experienced inspectors, teachers can refine their instructional strategies and enhance their overall effectiveness in the classroom. Effective teachers may receive acknowledgment and praise for their efforts during inspections. This recognition can boost morale, increase job satisfaction, and motivate teachers to maintain high standards of performance. It also provides tangible evidence of their skills and dedication, which can be beneficial for career advancement opportunities. Inspections can highlight specific areas where teachers need to focus their professional development efforts. By pinpointing weaknesses or gaps in their teaching approach, educators can create targeted action plans to address these issues. This targeted approach to improvement can lead to more efficient and effective professional growth. Inspections help ensure consistency in teaching quality across different classrooms and schools. By establishing common benchmarks and expectations, inspections contribute to a more uniform educational experience for students. This standardisation can also facilitate collaboration and sharing of best practices among teachers within and across schools.

The inspection process encourages teachers to critically evaluate their own performance and teaching strategies. This self-reflection can lead to increased self-awareness and a deeper understanding of one's strengths and weaknesses. By engaging in this introspective process, teachers can become more proactive in their professional development and more responsive to the needs of their students. School inspections often involve discussions and feedback sessions with colleagues and administrators.

This collaborative aspect can foster a sense of teamwork and shared responsibility for student outcomes. Teachers can learn from each other's experiences and work together to implement improvements based on inspection findings. Inspections help ensure that teaching practices are aligned with broader educational objectives and curriculum standards. This alignment can lead to more focused and effective instruction,

ultimately benefiting student learning outcomes. The inspection process holds teachers accountable for their performance and the quality of education they provide. This accountability can motivate educators to maintain high standards and continuously strive for excellence in their teaching practices.

The prospect of being observed and evaluated can cause significant stress for teachers. This anxiety may stem from fear of negative feedback, concerns about job security, or pressure to perform well during the inspection period. The added stress can potentially impact teachers' well-being and job satisfaction. Teachers may spend excessive time preparing for inspections, potentially detracting from regular teaching duties. This preparation often involves creating detailed lesson plans, organising documentation, and ensuring that classrooms meet specific criteria. The time invested in these activities may come at the expense of other important aspects of teaching, such as individualised student support or curriculum development. Short-term observations may not accurately reflect a teacher's overall performance and capabilities. Inspectors may only witness a small sample of a teacher's work, which could lead to incomplete or skewed assessments. Factors such as student behaviour, time of day, or specific lesson content may influence the inspection results, potentially resulting in an unfair evaluation.

Teachers might prioritise meeting inspection criteria over genuine student learning and engagement. This shift in focus can lead to a "teaching to the test" mentality, where educators emphasise activities and methods that align with inspection requirements rather than those that best serve their students' needs. Strict inspection criteria may limit teachers' creativity and ability to tailor their teaching methods to their students' needs. This constraint can stifle innovation in the classroom and prevent teachers from adapting their approach to diverse learning styles and individual student requirements.

Poor inspection results can demoralise teachers and affect their job satisfaction and motivation. Negative feedback, especially if perceived as unfair or overly critical, can lead to decreased confidence and enthusiasm for teaching. This impact on morale may extend beyond individual teachers and affect the overall school climate. Inspections may not fully capture the nuanced challenges teachers face in diverse classroom environments. Factors such as socioeconomic backgrounds, special educational needs, or cultural diversity may not be adequately considered in standardised inspection criteria, leading to an incomplete assessment of a teacher's effectiveness. Negative inspection results may lead to disciplinary actions, reduced opportunities for career advancement, or even job loss. This approach can create a culture of fear and defensiveness among teachers, potentially hindering open communication and collaborative improvement efforts. The presence of inspectors in the classroom can disrupt the usual learning environment and alter student behaviour. This disruption may not provide an accurate representation of typical classroom dynamics and could negatively impact the assessment of a teacher's performance.

Schools may divert resources towards inspection preparation at the expense of other important areas. This reallocation of funds and time could potentially impact overall educational quality and student support services. While inspections aim to standardise teaching practices, they may inadvertently discourage individualised approaches that cater to specific student needs or local contexts. This tension between standardisation and individualization can be particularly challenging for teachers working in diverse or unique educational settings.

The cyclical nature of inspections may encourage a short-term focus on improvement rather than fostering long-term, sustainable changes in teaching practices. Teachers may feel pressure to demonstrate immediate results rather than implementing more gradual, but potentially more effective, improvements in their teaching methods

Critics argue that the current inspection model may not adequately capture the complex, multifaceted nature of learning environments, potentially leading to an oversimplification of educational success. Furthermore, there is ongoing discussion about whether alternative approaches, such as peer-review systems or more holistic evaluation methods, could provide a more comprehensive and nuanced understanding of school performance while minimising the negative effects associated with traditional inspection processes.

In conclusion, while school inspections can provide valuable objective information, their effectiveness is constrained by various limitations in data collection and interpretation. The Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) in England, for example, must carefully balance these pros and cons in their inspection processes (Jerrim & Jones, 2024). This nuanced approach reflects the complex nature of evaluating educational quality and the need for thoughtful implementation of inspection systems.

Guidelines can be created to help ensure that the school is well prepared for the inspection team visiting the school. These guidelines cover what steps need to be taken and information provided before the team arrives, what sort of support is best for the visiting team, and how best to participate once team members are working in the school. Throughout the chapter, the need to carefully relate the evidence provided to the judgement

criteria the inspection team will be applying is stressed, but so is the need to keep to an agreed timetable that will allow a comprehensive inspection report to be written and circulated within a fixed time frame.

9. How to Prepare a British International School for an Inspection?

To prepare for an inspection, the British International School should first conduct a thorough self-evaluation to identify areas of strength and weakness. This process should involve gathering input from all stakeholders, including teachers, students, parents, and administrators. Once areas for improvement are identified, the school should develop and implement action plans to address these issues well in advance of the inspection date.

Next is to embark on a comprehensive and systematic approach to ensure readiness. The process should begin with a thorough self-evaluation, which serves as a critical foundation for identifying areas of strength and weakness across all aspects of the school's operations. This self-assessment should be both broad in scope and deep in analysis, covering academic performance, teaching methodologies, student welfare, facilities management, and administrative processes. The self-evaluation process should be inclusive and participatory, actively seeking input from all stakeholders. This includes gathering feedback and insights from teachers, who can provide valuable perspectives on curriculum implementation and classroom dynamics. Students should also be involved, as their experiences and opinions are crucial in understanding the effectiveness of educational practices. Parents' views on communication, academic support, and overall satisfaction with the school should be carefully considered.

Additionally, administrators should contribute their insights on operational efficiency and strategic planning. To ensure a comprehensive evaluation, the school might employ various data collection methods such as surveys, focus group discussions, individual interviews, and analysis of academic performance data. This multifaceted approach will help in creating a holistic picture of the school's current state.

Once the self-evaluation is complete, the next step is to meticulously analyse the gathered information to identify specific areas for improvement. This analysis should be objective and data-driven, pinpointing both immediate concerns and long-term developmental needs.

The school leadership team should prioritise these areas based on their impact on student learning outcomes and overall school performance. With a clear understanding of the areas requiring attention, the school should then develop detailed and actionable improvement plans. These plans should outline specific objectives, strategies, timelines, and responsible parties for each area of focus. It's crucial that these plans are realistic, measurable, and aligned with the school's overall mission and vision. Implementation of these action plans should commence well in advance of the inspection date. This proactive approach allows sufficient time for meaningful changes to take effect and for the impact of these improvements to be evident.

Regular monitoring and evaluation of the implementation process are essential to ensure that the plans are on track and to make any necessary adjustments. Throughout this preparation period, it's important to maintain open communication with all stakeholders.

Regular updates on the progress of improvement initiatives can help build confidence and engagement among the school community. Additionally, providing training and support to staff members in areas identified for improvement can enhance their readiness for the inspection. By following this comprehensive approach, a British International School can not only prepare effectively for the upcoming inspection but also foster a culture of continuous improvement that extends beyond the inspection process, ultimately benefiting the entire school community.

Key points for preparation:

- Create a self evaluation form (SEF)
- Include feedback from all stakeholders
- Analyse the data from the SEF
- Create action plans and share these with the community
- Add these to the School Development and Professional Development Plan
- Monitor and evaluate initiatives
- Review the impact of initiatives
- Plan for a compliance visit (Policies, frameworks, licences are updated etc.)

10. Conclusion

In conclusion, while school inspections have the potential to promote improvement, their effectiveness may depend on various factors, such as the specific mechanisms employed and the school's context. Factors need

to be considered and plans in place to support staff before an inspection is planned and implemented. An inspection is a commitment by the whole community to step into a cycle of continuous improvement to improve the quality of the overall education in the school.

As identified in the sections above, there is clear evidence to suggest that the majority of schools currently rated as 'Requires Improvement/Meeting Standards' go on to improve further after an inspection process. The outcome of the inspection is increased but this does not show the impact of the actual process of the inspection as there are many variables. With the increase of the inspection judgement, it is also noted that there is evidence to suggest a negative impact on staff, increasing tension due to accountability of outcomes. Internationally, as noted, more schools are opting into school inspections as a route to show quality assurance and benchmark of best practice of education.

The research and feedback loop from all stakeholders should continue to fine tune the inspection experience for all involved. The tension between accountability and development in the inspection process (Plowright, 2007) highlights the need for a balanced approach. Further research is necessary to evaluate the impact of school inspections and identify the most effective mechanisms for promoting school improvement (Jones & Tymms, 2014). This focus between accountability and development in school inspections raises questions about how to strike an optimal balance between these two objectives. Future studies could explore innovative approaches that integrate both accountability measures and developmental support in inspection processes.

Additionally, investigating the long-term effects of different inspection models on school culture, teacher motivation, and student outcomes could provide valuable insights for policymakers and educational leaders. This pressure also underscores the importance of considering contextual factors, such as school demographics and resources, when designing and implementing inspection frameworks. Additional training and opportunities for feedback for schools, leaders and governance would enable a clearer understanding of the longer term impact of inspections. A summary or further published case studies would help schools navigate inspections for the first time as well as maintain a healthy development cycle for schools in the long term.

Exploring the perspectives of various stakeholders, including teachers, administrators, and students, could provide valuable insights into the perceived effectiveness and impact of different inspection approaches. Furthermore, examining successful inspection models from diverse educational systems around the world may offer innovative strategies for balancing accountability and development in school evaluations. After this, sharing the data from overall observations including feedback from staff and leaders throughout the process would create a further transparent process. This simple dashboard of data could enhance the perception of inspections and the impact of going through this process.

Before embarking upon an inspection process, a team could consider the following 8 recommendations to reduce the negative impacts mentioned above and to highlight the potential positives in the evidence discussed:

- 1. Contacting the AoBSO for further training information, support and a preliminary discussion with an accredited body.
- 2. The purpose of the inspection process, benefits and outline should be shared with the community.
- 3. Being a part of a school improvement cycle should be celebrated as it shows a deep commitment to enhancing the educational provision for all students.
- 4. Support, mentoring and coaching should be available throughout the entire process to remove tension, promote care, understanding and staff wellbeing.
- 5. The inspection cycle can help feed into school wide professional development opportunities for the team of staff and therefore play an integral part of lifelong learning.
- 6. Points raised by the inspection should be seen as part of the ongoing improvement process involving the entire school community and not using a lens to single out staff or focus on individual criticism.
- 7. The outcomes of the report should be shared with all stakeholders and communicated in a way to show that this is a positive process and one in which the best interests of the students are at the forefront of everything included in this cycle.
- 8. Objective outcomes could be added to the School Development Plan and a commitment to review the progress at several milestones in the following year.

At the end of a school inspection, the benefits are clear as mentioned by the Education Development Trust, "The value of the BSO inspection lies, above all, in the rigour of the inspection process that gives recognition to a school and highlights both its strengths and weaknesses in relation to clearly defined UK standards and expectations. This reference provides reassurance for current and prospective parents and a focus for further development. An additional benefit of BSO is that it entitles schools that successfully meet the standards, to recruit and induct newly qualified teachers. This recognition provides BSO-inspected schools with an added advantage which may assist in their teacher recruitment and in attracting and retaining new teachers in an increasingly competitive world." Education Development Trust (2024).

If a supportive, improved-focused and collaborative approach can be implemented, the inspections can bring many benefits to a British School. Having a clear plan in place, professional support and help from a trusted accredited body for approved inspection will alleviate the potential issues leaving the school with a process to improve the educational outcomes for all. Sharing the overall data from all UK and International schools, including statistical data in the form of rating, feedback from staff, teachers and leaders would further enhance the experience and encourage more establishments to opt into such cycles of improvement.

References

- 1. Analysis of the reasons and countermeasures for the high mobility of private international primary and secondary school teachers. (2023). International Journal of New Developments in Education, 5(16).
- 2. AoBSO, (2020). About BSO. https://www.aobso.uk/about-aobso-1
- 3. Brown, M., McNamara, G., O'Hara, J., & Shevlin, P. (2019). Polycentric inspection: a catalyst for sparking positive interactions in educational networks. Evaluation, 26(1), 76-97.
- 4. Davidsdottir, S. and Lisi, P. (2007). Effects of deliberative democracy on school self-evaluation. Evaluation, 13(3), 371-386.
- 5. Education Development Trust, (2024), *Inspecting British Schools Overseas*, https://www.edt.org/international/expertise/inspecting-british-schools-overseas
- 6. Ehren, M., Altrichter, H., McNamara, G., & O'Hara, J. (2013). Impact of school inspections on improvement of schools—describing assumptions on causal mechanisms in six european countries. Educational Assessment Evaluation and Accountability, 25(1), 3-43.
- 7. Ehren, M., Gustafsson, J., Altrichter, H., Skedsmo, G., Kemethofer, D., & Huber, S. (2015). Comparing effects and side effects of different school inspection systems across europe. Comparative Education, 51(3), 375-400.
- 8. Ehren, M., Perryman, J., & Shackleton, N. (2014). Setting expectations for good education: how dutch school inspections drive improvement. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 26(2), 296-327.
- 9. Fullfact.org, (2024) School ratings explained, https://fullfact.org/election-2024/school-ratings-explained/
- 10. Gaertner, H., Wurster, S., & Pant, H. A. (2013). The effect of school inspections on school improvement. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, *25*(4), 489–508.
- 11. Gaertner, H. (2024). The effect of school inspections on school improvement. School Effectiveness and School Improvement,
- 12. Grek, S., Lawn, M., Ozga, J., & Segerholm, C. (2013). Governing by inspection? european inspectorates and the creation of a european education policy space. Comparative Education, 49(4), 486-502.
- 13. Jones, A. and Cowie, B. (2010). Evaluation approaches for a national ict initiative: the example of laptops for new zealand teachers. Educational Research for Policy and Practice, 10(1), 3-15.
- 14. Jones, K., & Tymms, P. (2014). Ofsted's role in promoting school improvement: the mechanisms of the school inspection system in England. *Oxford Review of Education*, *40*(3), 315–330.
- 15. Jerrim, J., & Jones, A. (2024). The strengths and limitations of using quantitative data to inform school inspections. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, *35*(2), 142–160.
- 16. Judge, R. (2024). Starting from lagos: international schooling and the diverse transnational status-making projects of 'middling' and 'elite' nigerians. Global Networks, 24(3).
- 17. Kotter (1995), Kotter's 8-step Change Model, Leading Change. 1995.
- 18. Khalil, L. and Kelly, A. (2020). The practice of choice-making: applying bourdieu to the field of international schooling. Journal of Research in International Education, 19(2), 137-154.
- 19. Looney, J. (2011). Developing high-quality teachers: teacher evaluation for improvement. European Journal of Education, 46(4), 440-455.
- 20. Macridis, S. and Bengoechea, E. (2015). Adoption of safe routes to school in canadian and the united states contexts: best practices and recommendations. Journal of School Health, 85(8), 558-566.
- 21. Mateja Brejc, Andrej Koren, International Journal of Management in Education, 2014
- 22. Nayir, F. and McNamara, G. (2015). The increasingly central role of school self-evaluation in inspection systems across europe: the case of ireland.. Turkish Journal of Education, 3(17343), 0.
- 23. Nel, C., Botha, C., & Marais, E. (2021). A covid-19 re-envisioned teaching practicum curriculum. Research in Social Sciences and Technology, 6(2), 249-266.
- 24. Ofsted (2023), Main Findings main-findings-state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-december-2023
- 25. Ouston, J., Fidler, B., & Earley, P. (1997). What Do Schools Do after OFSTED School Inspections-or before? *School Leadership & Management*, 17(1), 95–104.
- 26. Paula T. Hammond, Tilaye Yeshanew, Educational Studies, 2007
- 27. Penninckx, M., Vanhoof, J., Mæyer, S., & Petegem, P. (2016). Effects and side effects of flemish school inspection. Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 44(5), 728-744.
- 28. Plowright, D. (2007). Self-evaluation and Ofsted Inspection. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, *35*(3), 373–393.

- 29. Probert, S. (2023). International education in asia: the changing market. Journal of Research in International Education, 22(3), 185-200.
- 30. Strobl, H., Ptack, K., Töpfer, C., Sygusch, R., & Tittlbach, S. (2020). Effects of a participatory school-based intervention on students' health-related knowledge and understanding. Frontiers in Public Health, 8.
- 31. Syeda Kauser Ali, Lubna Baig 2012, BMC Medical Education, Problems and issues in implementing innovative curriculum in the developing countries: the Pakistani experience.
- 32. TES. (2024). how many schools in the UK https://www.tes.com/magazine/analysis/general/how-manyschools-in-theuk#:~:text=This%20number%20is%20made%20up.special%20or%20alternative%20provision%20setti

ngs. Tulley, M. A. (1989). The pros and cons of state-level textbook adoption. Book Research Quarterly,

5(2), 71-80

- 33. UK, GOV, (2021). Official Statistics State-funded schools inspections and outcomes as at 31 December https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/state-funded-school-inspections-and-2021 outcomes-as-at-31-december-2021/state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-december-2021#figure1data
- 34. Wei, F., Ni, Y., & Yoon, I. (2021). Understanding the role of local educational departments in school collaboration for improvement: two districts in china. Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 51(4), 986-1007.
- 35. Wene, I. and Muljani, R. (2020). English teachers' performance evaluation as a means for their professional developments. Indonesian Research Journal in Education | Irje|, 483-497.
- 36. Zeb, A. and Ullah, A. (2022). Investigating the role of professional development interventions in the development of teaching skills among primary school teachers of district swat khyber pakhtunkhwa, pakistan. Journal of Social Sciences Review, 2(2), 22-28.